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State of Missouri

KARE-MORE HOME HEALTH 
)

SERVICES, INC.,
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)
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)




)


vs.

)

No. 00-0369 SP




)

DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES,
)

DIVISION OF MEDICAL SERVICES
)

and DIVISION OF AGING,

)




)



Respondents.
)

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


On February 15, 2000, Kare-More Nursing and Home Health Services (Kare-More) filed a complaint challenging the Department of Social Services (Department), Division of Medical Services’ (DMS) decision to terminate Kare-More’s status as a Title XIX Medicaid provider and the Division of Aging’s (DA) decision to terminate its Title XX contract.  We stayed the enforcement of those decisions on February 18, 2000.  On May 12, 2000, Kare-More filed an amended complaint incorporating into its appeal a challenge of the decision of DMS that Kare-More had been overpaid by Medicaid in the amount of  $75,842.88.


The Commission convened a hearing on the complaint on April 12-13 and 17-18, 2001.  James B. Deutsch and Marc H. Ellinger with Blitz, Bardgett & Deutsch, L.C., represented Kare-More.  Kelly D. Walker with the Division of Legal Services represented the Department.  On October 2, 2001, the last written argument was filed.

Findings of Fact

1. Kare-More is a provider of in-home services for the handicapped, elderly, and disabled in an inner-city residential area of Kansas City.  Kare-More has been in business for approximately 11 years.

2. Kathryn Johnson is the president and director of nursing of Kare-More.  She is also a registered nurse (RN).  She participates in the training of Kare-More’s employees and reviews their work.  

3. On or about August 21, 1992, Kare-More entered into two agreements with DMS to provide in-home services under the Title XIX Medicaid program.  One agreement pertained to personal care services, and the other pertained to homemaker services.  Paragraph 1 of each of the agreements provides:

That I (the Provider) will comply with the policies and procedures as required by the Division of Medical Services and the United States Department of Health and Human Services in the delivery of services and merchandise and in submitting claims for payment.  I understand that in my field of participation I am not entitled to Medicaid reimbursement if I fail to so comply.

4. Paragraph 5 of each of the agreements between Kare-More and DMS provides in part:

All [providers] are required to maintain adequate fiscal and medical records to fully disclose services rendered to Title XIX Medicaid recipients.  These records shall be retained for five (5) years, and shall be made available on request by an authorized representative of the Division of Medical Services or Federal Agents from the Department of Health and Human Services, who 

are associated with the administration of the Missouri Title XIX Medicaid Program.  Documents retained must include all records and documents required by applicable regulation and Medicaid manual provisions.  Failure to submit or failure to retain adequate documentation for all services billed to the Medicaid program may result in recovery of payments for Medical Services not adequately documented and may result in sanctions to the provider’s Medicaid participation[.]

(Emphasis added.)

5. On or about September 25, 1995, Kare-More entered into a contract with DA under which Kare-More provided in-home services under the Title XX Social Services Block Grant (SSBG) Program.  This contract was amended and renewed on an annual basis through June 30, 2000.

6. Paragraph 2 of the contract between Kare-More and DA provides: 


Provider agrees to perform all services under this contract in compliance with this contract and in compliance with all applicable state and federal regulations lawfully promulgated by the Division or by any federal agency, including any and all amendments to said regulations that may occur during the term of the contract as well as all Title XIX and Social Service Block Grand manuals and bulletins subsequently issued by the Division or by the Division of Medical Services.

7. Paragraph 19
 of the contract between Kare-More and DA provides:


The Division may cancel this contract at any time for nonfeasance, misfeasance or malfeasance of contractual obligations by providing the Provider with a written notice of such cancellation.   Should the Division exercise its right to cancel this contract for such reasons, the cancellation shall become effective on the date as specified in the “Notice of Cancellation” sent to the Provider.  Cancellation or termination of this contract shall not be deemed a breach of contract, and no liability will accrue therefore.  Additionally, the Provider agrees, understands and acknowledges their understanding that the purpose and essence of this contract for the Division is orderly, efficient and dependable delivery of 

services to a population of clients who are vulnerable and at risk.   

(Emphasis added.)

8. Paragraph 28
 of the contract between Kare-More and DA provides in part:


The Provider shall keep and maintain adequate, legible, genuine and complete records to verify the delivery of services in accordance with the terms of this contract for a period of five (5) years following the contract’s expiration.  The Provider agrees to make all such records available to the Division, or its designated representatives, and to such federal and/or state agencies as may require such information.  The Provider agrees that failure to comply with this provision shall be deemed a material breach of this contract and to repay to the Division all amounts received for any services which are not adequately verified and fully documented by the Provider’s records.  


Adequate verification and full documentation shall mean that the Provider’s records are such that an orderly examination by a reasonable person is possible and can be conducted without the use of information extrinsic to the records and that such an examination can readily determine that the Provider’s services were provided including but not limited to the date, time, place, nature and by whom provided. 

(Emphasis added.)

9. As part of her duties at Kare-More, Johnson reviewed the time sheets of all employees.  Kare-More uses no documents other than time sheets to record when services were provided.  

10. In 1997 and 1998, DA monitoring staff found that Kare-More had not been in compliance with training documentation and service delivery documentation requirements.
  Because of the provider’s noncompliance, monitoring staff determined that Kare-More had been 

overpaid for services during each of those years.  The Department assessed Kare-More for overpayments in excess of $20,000 in 1997 and 1998.  

11. Randy Walton, Pat Bryant, and Barbara Rueter, all Aging Program Specialists with DA, conducted an on-site monitoring review at Kare-More’s offices on August 5, 1999.  Shortly before they arrived at Kare-More’s office, Walton advised Kare-More by telephone that the monitoring visit would begin that day.  When DA conducts an audit, it acts as DMS’s representative by monitoring compliance with Medicaid requirements.

12. When the D.A. monitors arrived at Kare-More’s offices on August 5, 1999, Kare-More’s billing clerk, Denise Johnson (Kathryn Johnson’s daughter) and other staff were working on time sheets and provided DA’s auditors access to the files during the audit.  The files were in poor shape and were not well organized.  Kathryn Johnson was not present during the audit on August 5, 1999.  Kare-More had approximately 30 employees on August 5, 1999.  

13. Based on the information and copies obtained during the monitoring visit, DA found the following problems concerning documentation of training, personnel requirements, and service delivery:

1.
Of 17 employee files that were reviewed, 10 were missing signed statements verifying that 


the employee received and reviewed a copy of the client’s rights, the code of ethics, and the 


service provider’s policy regarding confidentiality of client information. 

2.
Of 2 supervisor files reviewed, 2 were missing a signed statement verifying that the 


supervisor received and reviewed a copy of the in-home service standards.

3.
Of 17 employee files reviewed, 14 did not contain documentation of a policy that prohibits 


provider staff from contact with clients when the employee has a communicable condition.

4.
Of 15 employee files reviewed, 2 did not contain documentation that the employee met the 


basic requirements for hire. 

5.
Of 15 employee files that were reviewed, 5 did not contain documentation of a criminal 


record review.

6.
Of 15 employee files that were reviewed, 4 contained no documentation of an annual 


performance examination, and of the remaining 11 files, 8 evaluations were not performed 


in a timely manner.

7.
Of 9 employee files that were reviewed, 9 were missing documentation of all or part of the 


required training.

8.
Of 10 client files that were reviewed, 6 did not show documentation that they received 


services in accordance with an approved plan and did not document reasons for missed 


services.

9.
Kare-More failed to complete a DA-220 to report clients receiving less than 80% of 


authorized services.

10.
Of 10 new client files reviewed, 5 did not contain documentation of initiation of services 


within 7 days and did contain documentation that the DA case manager had been notified 


of the delay in service.

11.
Kare-More conducted no RN 10% sample visits for the month monitored (May 1999).

14. Randy Walton and Pat Bryant held an exit conference with representatives of Kare-More, including Kathryn Johnson and Denise Johnson, to discuss the deficiencies found during the on-site audit.  The auditors gave Kare-More an opportunity to look through the files and locate any documentation that had been missed during the audit.  Kare-More’s representatives found two performance evaluations for in-service training, and DA gave Kare-More credit for those items.

15. Kare-More client H.C. received services from Kare-More employee Josh Voorhees, who was H.C.’s live-in boyfriend.

16. Kare-More allowed client V.B. to receive services from Kare-More employee Duoc Bui, who was the daughter of V.B.  Kare-More did not have any waivers that would have permitted services provided by a family member of the client.  Kare-More did not have any waivers that would have permitted it to have two aides providing services to one client at the same time.

17. Kare-More allowed client T.T.N. to receive services from aide Hoa Tran.  Hoa Tran was not the daughter of T.T.N.

18. By letter dated February 2, 2000, DA notified Kare-More of its determination that Kare-More was not operating in substantial compliance with SSBG or Title XIX program standards.  The letter enumerated the results of the August 5, 1999, monitoring visit.

19. The February 2, 2000, letter stated that DA was terminating Kare-More’s SSBG contract effective 30 days from the date of the letter for substantial noncompliance with SSBG and Medicaid program requirements and for failing to accomplish its tendered plans of correction.  The letter stated that DA was reporting the results of the monitoring visit to DMS.  DA stated in the letter that it would not accept a proposal to establish any SSBG contract with Kare-More or any agency with one or more of the same principals involved in the management or ownership of Kare-More until at least February 2, 2006.  

20. By letter dated February 3, 2000, DMS notified Kare-More that it was terminating Kare-More’s participation in the Missouri Medicaid program for a period of six years until February 2, 2006.  DMS cited DA’s termination of Kare-More’s Title XX contract as grounds for terminating its Medicaid provider status. 

21. By letter dated February 17, 2000, DMS notified Kare-More that because of the provider’s noncompliance with personal care and homemaker chore regulations revealed during DA’s audit, the Missouri Medicaid program overpaid Kare-More in the amount of $75,842.88.  The letter indicated that DA assessed the overpayment based on the following coded criteria:

A.
Time sheets failed to record tasks performed for the hours billed.

B.
Time sheets failed to record times service began or ended.

C.
Time sheets did not have client’s signature for each date of service.

D.
Time sheets for one client overlap with time sheets for another client.

E.
Time sheets list a time in and out, but agency billed for more hours than time sheets indicate.

F.
Agency billed for services, but no time sheets found for those dates of service.

G.
Aide failed to allow for travel time between client visits.

H.
Agency has two time sheets for client showing same period of time and performing same tasks.

J.

Date on time sheet had been altered, and the aide’s signature did not match.

L.
Aide marked every task on time sheet.

M.
Aide was client’s daughter.

N.
Time sheet had “forged” written on it, and client’s signature appeared to be forged.

O.
Client was served by boyfriend who lived with her.

22. By letter dated April 17, 2001, the Department reduced the assessed overpayment to $73,705.62.

23. Kare-More was overpaid by the Department as follows:


Client
Date of Service
Units Overpaid
Reason


Calvin A.
05/13/99
3
A



05/14/99

3

A




Total
6


M.A.
07/08/98
1
E



07/11/98
1
F



11/04/98
3
F



11/06/98
3
F



12/04/98
3
F



04/14/99

1

E




Total
12


Charlie A.
07/14/99

1

E


Total
1


Gertrude B.
09/17/98
1
F



04/27/99
3
F



04/29/99
2
F



05/06/99
1
E



06/23/99
3
H



06/24/99

2

H



Total
12


James B.
07/03/98
1
E



09/18/98
1
E



09/22/98
3
F



10/26/98
4
F



10/28/98
4
F



10/30/98
2
F



11/06/98
1
A



03/08/99
3
F



03/21/99
3
F



04/03/99
3
F



04/17/99
4
F



06/07/99

3

E



Total
32


D.B.
05/05/99
5
F



05/21/99
2
F



06/03/99
3
F



07/22/99
1
F



07/23/99

2

F



Total
13


E.B.
05/01/99
2
F



05/02/99
2
F



05/03/99
2
F



05/04/99
3
F



05/13/99
1
E



06/30/99
2
E



07/03/99

3

F



Total
15


George B.
07/31/98
4
F



09/10/98
4
F



09/12/98
3
F



10/16/98
2
F



10/17/98
2
F



10/20/98
4
F



10/22/98
4
F



10/29/98
1
E



11/03/98
2
F



11/05/98
4
F



11/24/98
4
F



01/04/99
3
F



01/06/99
2
F



04/01/99
0
-



04/08/99
0
-



04/23/99
1
E



07/01/99
2
F



07/06/99
2
F



07/08/99
2
F



07/13/99
2
F



07/14/99

2

F



Total
50


B.B.
07/21/98
4
H



08/17/98
3
F



08/18/98
4
F



08/19/98
3
F



08/21/98
3
F



10/01/98

3

F



Total
20


S.B.
07/01/98
5
F



07/08/98
1
E



09/22/98
3
F



03/19/99
3
D



04/07/99
3
A



04/09/99
2
A



06/09/99
2
H



06/11/99
2
H



06/18/99

2

D



Total
23


F.B.
05/04/99
2
F



05/06/99
2
F



05/07/99

2

F



Total
6


I.B.
04/01/99
1
E



04/05/99
1
E



04/19/99
6
F



04/20/99
6
F



04/21/99
6
F



04/23/99

3

F



Total
23


J.B.
09/17/98
3
F



12/08/98
3
F



12/11/98
2
F



12/15/98
2
F



12/18/98
1
E



12/22/98
2
F



12/24/98
2
F



12/29/98
2
F



12/31/98
1
F



01/08/99
3
D



01/12/99
3
F



01/15/99
1
F



01/29/99
2
D



03/13/99

1

E



Total
28


C.B.
05/17/99
3
F



05/18/99
3
F



05/19/99
3
F



05/20/99
3
F



05/21/99
3
F



05/31/99

1

E



Total
16


V.B.
07/01/98
5
M



07/02/98
6
M



07/03/98
6
M



07/04/98
6
M



07/05/98
6
M



07/06/98
5
M



07/07/98
5
M



07/08/98
5
M



07/09/98
6
M



07/10/98
6
M



07/11/98
6
M



07/12/98
6
M



07/13/98
5
M



07/14/98
5
M



07/15/98
5
M



07/16/98
6
M



07/17/98
6
M



07/18/98
6
M



07/19/98
6
M



07/20/98
5
M



07/21/98
5
M



07/22/98
5
M



07/23/98
6
M



07/24/98
6
M



07/25/98
6
M



07/26/98
6
M



07/27/98
2
M



07/28/98
2
M



07/29/98
2
M



07/30/98
2
M



07/31/98
2
M



08/01/98
6
M



08/02/98
6
M



08/03/98
5
M



08/04/98
5
M



08/05/98
5
M



08/06/98
6
M



08/07/98
6
M



08/08/98
6
M



08/09/98
6
M



08/10/98
5
M



08/11/98
5
M



08/12/98
5
M



08/13/98
6
M



08/14/98
3
M



08/15/98
3
M



08/17/98
5
M



08/18/98
5
M



08/19/98
5
M



08/20/98
6
M



08/21/98
6
M



08/22/98
6
M



08/23/98
6
M



08/24/98
5
M



08/25/98
5
M



08/26/98
5
M



08/27/98
6
M



08/28/98
6
M



08/29/98
6
M



08/30/98
3
M



08/31/98
3
M



09/01/98
5
M



09/02/98
5
M



09/03/98
6
M



09/04/98
6
M



09/05/98
6
M



09/06/98
6
M



09/07/98
5
M



09/08/98
5
M



09/09/98
5
M



09/10/98
6
M



09/11/98
6
M



09/12/98
6
M



09/13/98
6
M



09/14/98
3
M



09/15/98
2
M



09/16/98
5
M



09/17/98
6
M



09/18/98
6
M



09/19/98
6
M



09/20/98
6
M



09/21/98
5
M



09/22/98
5
M



09/23/98
5
M



09/24/98
6
M



09/25/98
6
M



09/26/98
6
M



09/27/98
6
M



09/28/98
5
M



09/29/98
2
M



09/30/98
3
M



10/01/98
6
M



10/02/98
6
M



10/03/98
6
M



10/04/98
6
M



10/05/98
5
M



10/06/98
5
M



10/07/98
5
M



10/08/98
6
M



10/09/98
6
M



10/10/98
6
M



10/11/98
6
M



10/12/98
5
M



10/13/98
5
M



10/14/98
5
M



10/15/98
6
M



10/16/98
6
M



10/17/98
6
M



10/18/98
6
M



10/19/98
5
M



10/20/98
5
M



10/21/98
5
M



10/22/98
6
M



10/23/98
6
M



10/24/98
6
M



10/25/98
6
M



10/26/98
5
M



10/27/98
5
M



10/28/98
5
M



11/01/98
6
M



11/02/98
5
M



11/03/98
5
M



11/04/98
5
M



11/05/98
6
M



11/06/98
6
M



11/07/98
6
M



11/08/98
6
M



11/09/98
6
M



11/10/98
6
M



11/11/98
6
M



11/12/98
6
M



11/13/98
6
M



11/14/98
6
M



11/15/98
6
M



11/16/98
6
M



11/17/98
6
M



11/18/98
6
M



11/19/98
6
M



11/20/98
6
M



11/21/98
6
M



11/22/98
6
M



11/23/98
6
M



11/24/98
6
M



11/25/98
6
M



11/26/98
6
M



11/27/98
6
M



11/28/98
6
M



11/29/98
1
M



12/01/98
6
M



12/02/98
6
M



12/03/98
6
M



12/04/98
6
M



12/05/98
6
M



12/06/98
5
M



12/07/98
6
M



12/08/98
6
M



12/09/98
6
M



12/10/98
6
M



12/11/98
6
M



12/12/98
6
M



12/13/98
6
M



12/14/98
4
M



12/15/98
5
M



12/16/98
6
M



12/17/98
6
M



12/18/98
6
M



12/19/98
6
M



12/20/98
6
M



12/21/98
6
M



12/22/98
6
M



12/23/98
6
M



12/24/98
6
M



12/25/98
6
M



12/26/98
6
M



12/27/98
6
M



12/28/98
6
M



12/29/98
2
M



01/01/99
5
M



01/02/99
6
M



01/03/99
6
M



01/04/99
6
M



01/05/99
6
M



01/06/99
6
M



01/07/99
6
M



01/08/99
6
M



01/09/99
6
M



01/10/99
5
M



01/11/99
6
M



01/12/99
6
M



01/13/99
6
M



01/14/99
6
M



01/15/99
6
M



01/16/99
6
M



01/17/99
5
M



01/18/99
5
M



01/19/99
5
M



01/20/99
5
M



01/21/99
5
M



01/22/99
5
M



01/23/99
5
M



01/24/99
5
M



01/25/99
4
M



01/26/99
4
M



01/27/99
4
M



01/28/99
5
M



01/29/99
5
M



01/30/99
5
M



01/31/99
5
M



02/01/99
6
M



02/02/99
6
M



02/03/99
6
M



02/04/99
6
M



02/05/99
6
M



02/06/99
6
M



02/07/99
5
M



02/08/99
6
M



02/09/99
6
M



02/10/99
6
M



02/11/99
6
M



02/12/99
6
M



02/13/99
6
M



02/14/99
5
M



02/15/99
5
M



02/16/99
6
M



02/17/99
6
M



02/18/99
6
M



02/19/99
6
M



02/20/99
6
M



02/21/99
5
M



02/22/99
6
M



02/23/99
6
M



02/24/99
6
M



02/25/99
6
M



02/26/99
6
M



02/27/99
6
M



02/28/99
5
M



03/01/99
6
M



03/02/99
6
M



03/03/99
6
M



03/04/99
6
M



03/05/99
6
M



03/06/99
6
M



03/07/99
6
M



03/08/99
6
M



03/09/99
6
M



03/10/99
6
M



03/11/99
6
M



03/12/99
6
M



03/13/99
6
M



03/14/99
5
M



03/16/99
6
M



03/17/99
6
M



03/18/99
6
M



03/19/99
6
M



03/20/99
6
M



03/21/99
5
M



03/22/99
6
M



03/23/99
6
M



03/24/99
6
M



03/25/99
6
M



03/26/99
6
M



03/27/99
6
M



03/28/99
5
M



03/29/99
5
M



03/30/99
2
M



04/01/99
6
M



04/02/99
6
M



04/03/99
6
M



04/04/99
6
M



04/05/99
6
M



04/06/99
6
M



04/07/99
6
M



04/08/99
6
M



04/09/99
6
M



04/10/99
6
M



04/11/99
5
M



04/12/99
6
M



04/13/99
6
M



04/14/99
6
M



04/15/99
6
M



04/16/99
6
M



04/17/99
6
M



04/18/99
5
M



04/19/99
6
M



04/20/99
6
M



04/21/99
6
M



04/22/99
6
M



04/23/99
6
M



04/24/99
6
M



04/25/99
5
M



04/26/99
6
M



04/27/99
6
M



04/28/99
5
M



04/29/99
2
M



05/01/99
6
M



05/02/99
5
M



05/03/99
6
M



05/04/99
6
M



05/05/99
6
M



05/06/99
6
M



05/07/99
6
M



05/08/99
6
M



05/09/99
5
M



05/11/99
8
M



05/12/99
7
M



05/13/99
8
M



05/14/99
7
M



05/17/99
6
M



05/18/99
6
M



05/19/99
6
M



05/20/99
6
M



05/21/99
6
M



05/22/99
6
M



05/23/99
4
M



05/24/99
6
M



05/25/99
6
M



05/26/99
6
M



05/27/99
6
M



05/28/99
6
M



05/29/99
6
M



05/30/99
5
M



05/31/99
3
M



06/01/99
6
M



06/02/99
6
M



06/03/99
6
M



06/04/99
6
M



06/05/99
6
M



06/06/99
6
M



06/07/99
6
M



06/08/99
6
M



06/09/99
6
M



06/10/99
6
M



06/11/99
6
M



06/12/99
6
M



06/13/99
5
M



06/14/99
6
M



06/15/99
6
M



06/16/99
6
M



06/17/99
6
M



06/18/99
6
M



06/19/99
6
M



06/20/99
5
M



06/21/99
6
M



06/22/99
6
M



06/23/99
6
M



06/24/99
6
M



06/25/99
6
M



06/26/99
6
M



06/27/99
6
M



06/28/99
6
M



07/01/99
6
M



07/02/99
6
M



07/03/99
6
M



07/04/99
5
M



07/05/99
6
M



07/06/99
6
M



07/07/99
6
M



07/08/99
6
M



07/09/99
6
M



07/10/99
6
M



07/11/99
5
M



07/12/99
6
M



07/13/99
6
M



07/14/99
6
M



07/15/99

6

M



Total
2,037


C.C.
07/10/98
1
E



09/03/98
2
E



10/17/98
5
F



12/21/98
0
-



01/01/99
8
F



01/02/99
8
F



01/03/99
8
F



02/11/99
8
F



02/20/99
3
F



02/21/99
8
F



05/20/99

0

-



Total
51


V.C.
10/28/98
1
E



11/06/98
1
E



01/26/99
4
H



01/27/99
4
H



01/28/99
4
H



01/29/99

4

H



Total
18


H.C.
08/01/98
0
-



08/02/98
0
-



08/03/98
0
-



08/04/98
0
-



08/05/98
0
-



08/06/98
0
-



08/07/98
0
-



08/08/98
0
-



08/09/98
0
-



08/10/98
0
-



08/11/98
0
-



08/12/98
0
-



08/13/98
0
-



08/14/98
0
-



08/15/98
0
-



08/16/98
0
-



08/17/98
0
-



08/18/98
0
-



08/19/98
0
-



08/20/98
0
-



08/21/98
0
-



08/22/98
0
-



08/23/98
0
-



08/24/98
0
-



08/25/98
0
-



08/26/98
0
-



08/27/98
0
-



08/28/98
0
-



08/29/98
0
-



09/01/98
0
-



09/02/98
0
-



09/03/98
0
-



09/04/98
0
-



09/05/98
0
-



09/06/98
0
-



09/07/98
0
-



09/08/98
0
-



09/09/98
0
-



09/10/98
0
-



09/11/98
0
-



09/12/98
0
-



09/13/98
0
-



09/14/98
0
-



09/15/98
0
-



09/16/98
0
-



09/17/98
0
-



09/18/98
0
-



09/19/98
0
-



09/20/98
0
-



09/21/98
0
-



09/22/98
0
-



09/23/98
0
-



09/24/98
0
-



09/25/98
0
-



09/26/98
0
-



09/27/98
0
-



09/28/98
0
-



09/29/98
0
-



09/30/98
0
-



10/01/98
0
-



10/02/98
0
-



10/03/98
0
-



10/04/98
0
-



10/05/98
0
-



10/06/98
0
-



10/07/98
0
-



10/08/98
0
-



10/09/98
0
-



10/10/98
0
-



10/11/98
0
-



10/12/98
0
-



10/13/98
0
-



10/14/98
0
-



10/15/98
0
-



10/16/98
0
-



10/17/98
0
-



10/18/98
0
-



10/19/98
0
-



10/20/98
0
-



10/21/98
0
-



10/22/98
0
-



10/23/98
0
-



10/24/98
0
-



10/25/98
0
-



10/26/98
0
-



10/27/98
0
-



10/28/98
0
-



10/29/98
0
-



10/30/98
0
-



10/31/98
0
-



11/01/98
0
-



11/02/98
0
-



11/03/98
0
-



11/04/98
0
-



11/05/98
0
-



11/06/98
0
-



11/07/98
0
-



11/08/98
0
-



11/09/98
0
-



11/10/98
0
-



11/11/98
0
-



11/12/98
0
-



11/13/98
0
-



11/14/98
0
-



11/15/98
0
-



11/16/98
0
-



11/17/98
0
-



11/18/98
0
-



11/19/98
0
-



11/20/98
0
-



11/21/98
0
-



11/22/98
0
-



11/23/98
0
-



11/24/98
0
-



11/25/98
0
-



11/26/98
0
-



11/27/98
0
-



11/28/98
0
-



11/29/98
0
-



11/30/98
0
-



12/01/98
0
-



12/02/98
0
-



12/03/98
0
-



12/04/98
0
-



12/05/98
0
-



12/06/98
0
-



12/07/98
0
-



12/08/98
0
-



12/09/98
0
-



12/10/98
0
-



12/11/98
0
-



12/12/98
0
-



12/13/98
0
-



12/14/98
0
-



12/15/98
0
-



12/16/98
0
-



12/17/98
0
-



12/18/98
0
-



12/19/98
0
-



12/20/98
0
-



12/21/98
0
-



12/22/98
0
-



12/23/98
0
-



12/24/98
0
-



12/25/98
0
-



12/26/98
0
-



12/27/98
0
-



12/28/98
0
-



12/29/98
0
-



12/30/98
0
-



12/31/98
0
-



01/01/99
0
-



01/02/99
0
-



01/03/99
0
-



01/04/99
0
-



01/05/99
0
-



01/06/99
0
-



01/07/99
0
-



01/08/99
0
-



01/09/99
0
-



01/10/99
0
-



01/11/99
0
-

-

01/12/99
0
-



01/13/99
0
-



01/14/99
0
-



01/15/99
0
-



01/18/99
0
-



01/19/99
0
-



01/20/99
0
-



01/21/99
0
-



01/22/99
0
-



01/23/99
0
-



01/24/99
0
-



01/25/99
0
-



01/26/99
0
-



01/27/99
0
-



01/28/99
0
-



01/29/99
0
-



01/30/99
0
-



01/31/99
0
-



02/16/99
0
-



02/17/99
0
-



02/18/99
0
-



02/19/99
0
-



02/20/99
0
-



02/21/99
0
-



02/22/99
0
-



02/23/99
0
-



02/24/99
0
-



02/25/99
0
-



02/26/99
0
-



02/27/99
0
-



02/28/99
0
-



03/01/99
0
-



03/02/99
0
-



03/03/99
0
-



03/04/99
0
-



03/05/99
0
-



03/06/99
0
-



03/07/99
0
-



03/08/99
0
-



03/09/99
0
-



03/10/99
0
-



03/11/99
0
-



03/12/99
0
-



03/13/99
0
-



03/14/99
0
-



03/15/99
0
-



03/16/99
0
-



03/17/99
0
-



03/18/99
0
-



03/19/99
0
-



03/20/99
0
-



03/21/99
0
-



03/22/99
0
-



03/23/99
0
-



03/24/99
0
-



03/25/99
0
-



03/26/99
0
-



03/27/99
0
-



03/28/99
0
-



03/29/99
0
-



03/30/99
0
-



04/01/99
0
-



04/02/99
0
-



04/03/99
0
-



04/04/99
0
-



04/05/99
0
-



04/06/99
0
-



04/07/99
0
-



04/08/99
0
-



04/09/99
0
-



04/10/99
0
-



04/11/99
0
-



04/12/99
0
-



04/13/99
0
-



04/14/99
0
-



04/15/99
0
-



04/16/99
0
-



04/17/99
0
-



04/18/99
0
-



04/19/99
0
-



04/20/99
0
-



04/21/99
0
-



04/22/99
0
-



04/23/99
0
-



04/24/99
0
-



04/25/99
0
-



04/26/99
0
-



04/27/99
0
-



04/28/99
0
-



04/29/99
0
-



04/30/99
0
-



05/01/99
0
-



05/02/99
0
-



05/03/99
0
-



05/04/99
0
-



05/05/99
0
-



05/06/99
0
-



05/07/99
0
-



05/08/99
0
-



05/09/99
0
-



05/10/99
0
-



05/11/99
0
-



05/12/99
0
-



05/13/99
0
-



05/14/99
0
-



05/15/99
0
-



05/16/99
0
-



05/17/99
0
-



05/18/99
0
-



05/19/99
0
-



05/20/99
0
-



05/21/99
0
-



05/22/99
0
-



05/23/99
0
-



05/24/99
0
-



05/25/99
0
-



05/26/99
0
-



05/27/99
0
-



05/28/99
0
-



05/29/99
0
-



05/30/99
0
-



05/31/99
0
-



06/01/99
0
-



06/02/99
0
-



06/03/99
0
-



06/04/99
0
-



06/05/99
0
-



06/06/99
0
-



06/07/99
0
-



06/08/99
0
-



06/09/99
0
-



06/10/99
0
-



06/11/99
0
-



06/12/99
0
-



06/13/99
0
-



06/14/99
0
-



06/15/99
0
-



06/16/99
0
-



06/17/99
0
-



06/18/99
0
-



06/19/99
0
-



06/20/99
0
-



06/21/99
0
-



06/22/99
0
-



06/23/99
0
-



06/24/99
0
-



06/25/99
0
-



06/26/99
0
-



06/27/99
0
-



06/28/99
0
-



06/29/99
0
-



06/30/99
0
-



07/01/99
0
-



07/02/99
0
-



07/03/99
0
-



07/04/99
0
-



07/05/99
0
-



07/06/99
0
-



07/07/99
0
-



07/08/99
0
-



07/09/99
0
-



07/10/99
0
-



07/11/99
0
-



07/12/99
0
-



07/13/99
0
-



07/14/99
0
-



07/15/99

0

-



Total
   0


B.C.
03/06/99
8
A



03/07/99
8
A



06/08/99
4
A



06/09/99
1
E



06/14/99
8
H



06/17/99

6

H



Total
35


F.D.
03/22/99
1
E



03/23/99
1
E



03/24/99
1
E



03/25/99
1
E



03/26/99
1
E



03/29/99
3
E



03/30/99
1
E



03/31/99
1
E



04/05/99
0
-



04/06/99
0
-



04/07/99
0
-



04/08/99
0
-



04/09/99
0
-



04/26/99
1
E



04/27/99
1
E



04/28/99
1
E



04/29/99
1
E



05/21/99

4

H



Total
18


M.D.
07/16/98
2
F



07/17/98
2
F



07/18/98
3
F



07/19/98

2

F



Total
9


C.D.
08/09/98
2
F



08/14/98
1
E



08/16/98
3
F



08/23/98
3
F



08/30/98
4
F



09/04/98
0
-



09/05/98
1
F



09/14/98
2
F



09/15/98
4
F



09/16/98
2
H



09/18/98
3
H



09/19/98
3
H



09/20/98
3
H



09/21/98
3
H



09/23/98
3
H



09/24/98
3
H



09/25/98
3
H



09/28/98
2
H



10/03/98
4
F



10/04/98
4
F



11/02/98
1
E



11/03/98
2
E



11/04/98
1
E



11/05/98
2
E



11/06/98
1
E



11/07/98
1
E



01/13/99
0
-



01/31/99
3
F



03/16/99
3
F



03/17/99
2
F



03/18/99
2
F



03/19/99
2
F



03/20/99
3
F



05/13/99
1
E



05/14/99
1
E



05/15/99
1
E



05/18/99
2
B



05/19/99
2
B



06/13/99

4

F



Total
87


B.E.
10/05/98
3
J



10/08/98

4

J



Total
7


J.F.
05/04/99
2
F



05/06/99
2
F



05/07/99

2

F



Total
6


L.F.
12/17/98
0
-



02/13/99
2
A



02/23/99
1
E



02/24/99
1
E



06/01/99
0
-



06/03/99
3
H



06/05/99
4
F



07/08/99

1

E



Total
12


H.F.
07/02/98
2
H



07/28/98
2
H



09/21/98
2
H



12/10/98
2
E



02/23/99
4
F



02/25/99
4
F



06/04/99
3
F



07/15/99

0

-



Total
19


W.F.
06/28/99
1
F



06/30/99

1

F



Total
2


S.G.
08/03/98
3
F



08/05/98

3

F



Total
6


H.G.
07/07/98
3
F



07/21/98
3
F



09/04/98
2
F



10/09/98
2
F



12/11/98
3
F



03/05/99
2
A



03/20/99

4

A



Total
19


C.G.
07/07/98
0
-



07/08/98
0
-



07/18/98
0
-



07/19/98
0
-



07/20/98
0
-



07/21/98
0
-



07/22/98
0
-



07/23/98
0
-



07/24/98
0
-



07/25/98
0
-



07/26/98

0

-



Total
0


L.H.
09/01/98
3
F



09/03/98

3

F



Total
6


M.H.
08/13/98
1
E



09/01/98
1
G



09/03/98
1
G



09/15/98
1
G



09/17/98
1
G



09/22/98
1
G



09/24/98
1
G



09/30/98
2
F



10/06/98
0
-



10/08/98
1
G



10/13/98
1
G



10/15/98
1
G



10/27/98
1
G



10/29/98
1
G



11/10/98
2
D



11/19/98
1
G



03/16/99
2
D



03/18/99
2
D



03/30/99
2
B



06/01/99
2
D



06/03/99

2

D



Total
27


E.J.
07/07/98
2
C



07/18/98
2
A



07/20/98
0
-



07/22/98
0
-



07/25/98
1
F



07/27/98
0
-



08/04/98
1
E



09/23/98
3
F



10/09/98
2
E



11/10/98
2
D



11/16/98

0

-



Total
13


G.J.
08/27/98
0
-



10/15/98
0
-



10/22/98
0
-



11/10/98
0
-



11/12/98
0
-



11/24/98
0
-



03/16/99
1
F



05/13/99

0

-



Total
1


N.J.
07/08/98
1
E



07/10/98
1
E



07/27/98
2
B



04/09/99
1
E



04/17/99
0
-



05/25/99

4

F



Total
9


M.K.
10/10/98
3
F



02/08/99
2
F



02/10/99
2
F



02/25/99
4
F



02/27/99

2

F



Total
13


J.L.
01/01/99

3

F



Total
3


B.L.
07/28/98
3
F



09/21/98
4
H



05/22/99

5

B



Total
12


T.L.
07/11/98
2
F



01/14/99
1
G



01/15/99
1
G



01/22/99
0
-



03/19/99
3
D



06/09/99
0
-



06/10/99

0

-



Total
7


S.M.
08/05/98
1
E



08/16/98
2
F



08/29/98
1
F



02/02/99
3
F



02/04/99
3
F



04/17/99

3

F



Total
13


James M.
08/09/98
8
F



09/09/98
0
-



09/20/98
4
H



09/21/98
4
F



09/23/98
4
F



09/25/98
4
F



09/29/98
4
F



10/07/98
4
F



10/09/98
4
F



11/08/98
2
E



11/15/98
0

-



12/22/98
2
E



05/16/99
1
E



05/21/99
4
C



06/14/99
1
E



06/18/99
0

-



07/13/99

2

E



Total
48


Jannie M.
06/11/99

1

E



Total
1


R.M.
03/15/99
4
N



04/23/99
2
F



04/28/99
0
-



05/20/99
0
-



06/03/99
2
E



06/14/99
2
E



06/15/99

2

E



Total
12


R.N.
07/03/98
4
F



07/04/98
4
F



07/05/98
4
F



07/11/98
1
B



07/31/98
0
-



08/13/98
4
F



08/22/98
8
H



08/23/98
8
H



08/26/98
0
-



08/29/98
4
H



09/14/98
0
-



09/15/98
0
-



09/18/98
0
-



09/21/98
0
-



09/22/98
8
H



09/23/98
0
-



09/25/98
0
-



09/26/98
2
E, H



09/28/98
0
-



09/29/98
4
E



09/30/98
0
-



10/05/98
0
-



10/07/98
0
-



10/09/98
0
-



10/12/98
0
-



10/14/98
0
-



10/16/98
0
-



10/18/98
4
B



10/19/98
0
-



10/21/98
0
-



10/23/98
0
-



10/25/98
1
E



10/26/98
0
-



12/10/98
5
F



12/18/98
0
-



12/29/98
0
-



01/24/99

5

F



Total
66


P.T.N.
08/15/98
7
F



08/31/98
5
F



09/14/98
4
F



09/15/98
4
F



09/21/98
0
-



10/30/98
0
-



12/05/98
0
-



12/06/98
0
-



02/15/99
5
C



03/30/99
0
-



07/01/99
1
E



07/04/99
0
-



07/12/99
5
C



07/13/99
5
C



07/14/99
5
C



07/15/99

5

C


Total
46


T.T.N.
07/01/98
0
-



07/02/98
0
-



07/03/98
0
-



07/04/98
0
-



07/05/98
0
-



07/06/98
0
-



07/07/98
0
-



07/08/98
0
-



07/09/98
0
-



07/10/98
0
-



07/11/98
0
-



07/12/98
0
-



07/13/98
0
-



07/14/98
0
-



07/15/98
0
-



07/16/98
0
-



07/17/98
0
-



07/18/98
0
-



07/19/98
0
-



07/20/98
0
-



07/21/98
0
-



07/22/98
0
-



07/23/98
0
-



07/24/98
0
-



07/25/98
0
-



07/26/98
0
-



07/27/98
0
-



07/28/98
0
-



07/29/98
0
-



07/30/98
0
-



07/31/98
0
-



08/01/98
0
-



08/02/98
0
-



08/03/98
0
-



08/04/98
0
-



08/05/98
0
-



08/06/98
0
-



08/07/98
0
-



08/08/98
0
-



08/09/98
0
-



08/10/98
0
-



08/11/98
0
-



08/12/98
0
-



08/13/98
0
-



08/14/98
0
-



08/15/98
0
-



08/17/98
0
-



08/18/98
0
-



08/19/98
0
-



08/20/98
0
-



08/21/98
0
-



08/22/98
0
-



08/23/98
0
-



08/24/98
0
-



08/25/98
0
-



08/26/98
0
-



08/27/98
0
-



08/28/98
0
-



08/29/98
0
-



08/30/98
0
-



08/31/98
0
-



09/01/98
0
-



09/02/98
0
-



09/03/98
0
-



09/04/98
0
-



09/05/98
0
-



09/06/98
0
-



09/07/98
0
-



09/08/98
0
-



09/09/98
0
-



09/10/98
0
-



09/11/98
0
-



09/12/98
0
-



09/13/98
0
-



09/14/98
0
-



09/15/98
0
-



09/16/98
0
-



09/17/98
0
-



09/18/98
0
-



09/19/98
0
-



09/20/98
0
-



09/21/98
0
-



09/22/98
0
-



09/23/98
0
-



09/24/98
0
-



09/25/98
0
-



09/26/98
0
-



10/01/98
0
-



10/02/98
0
-



10/03/98
0
-



10/04/98
0
-



10/05/98
0
-



10/06/98
0
-



10/07/98
0
-



10/08/98
0
-



10/09/98
0
-



10/10/98
0
-



10/11/98
0
-



10/12/98
0
-



10/13/98
0
-



10/14/98
0
-



10/15/98
0
-



10/16/98
0
-



10/17/98
0
-



10/18/98
0
-



10/19/98
0
-



10/20/98
0
-



10/21/98
0
-



10/22/98
0
-



10/23/98
0
-



10/24/98
0
-



10/25/98
0
-



10/26/98
0
-



10/27/98
0
-



10/28/98
0
-



10/29/98
0
-



10/30/98
0
-



10/31/98
0
-



11/01/98
0
-



11/02/98
0
-



11/03/98
0
-



11/04/98
0
-



11/05/98
0
-



11/06/98
0
-



11/07/98
0
-



11/08/98
0
-



11/09/98
0
-



11/10/98
0
-



11/11/98
0
-



11/12/98
0
-



11/13/98
0
-



11/14/98
0
-



11/15/98
0
-



11/16/98
0
-



11/17/98
0
-



11/18/98
0
-



11/19/98
0
-



11/20/98
0
-



11/21/98
0
-



11/22/98
0
-



11/23/98
0
-



11/24/98
0
-



11/25/98
0
-



11/26/98
0
-



11/27/98
0
-



11/28/98
0
-



11/29/98
0
-



11/30/98
0
-



12/16/98
0
-



12/17/98
0
-



12/18/98
0
-



12/19/98
0
-



12/20/98
0
-



12/21/98
0
-



12/22/98
0
-



12/23/98
0
-



12/24/98
0
-



12/25/98
0
-



12/26/98
0
-



12/27/98
0
-



12/28/98
0
-



12/29/98
0
-



12/30/98
0
-



12/31/98
0
-



01/01/99
0
-



01/02/99
0
-



01/03/99
0
-



01/04/99
0
-



01/05/99
0
-



01/06/99
0
-



01/07/99
0
-



01/08/99
0
-



01/09/99
0
-



01/10/99
0
-



01/11/99
0
-



01/12/99
0
-



01/13/99
0
-



01/14/99
0
-



01/15/99
0
-



01/16/99
0
-



01/17/99
0
-



01/18/99
0
-



01/19/99
0
-



01/20/99
0
-



01/21/99
0
-



01/22/99
0
-



01/23/99
0
-



01/24/99
0
-



01/25/99
0
-



01/26/99
0
-



01/27/99
0
-



01/28/99
0
-



01/29/99
0
-



01/30/99
0
-



01/31/99
0
-



02/01/99
0
-



02/02/99
0
-



02/03/99
0
-



02/04/99
0
-



02/05/99
0
-



02/06/99
0
-



02/07/99
0
-



02/08/99
0
-



02/09/99
0
-



02/10/99
0
-



02/11/99
0
-



02/12/99
0
-



02/13/99
0
-



02/14/99
0
-



02/15/99
0
-



02/16/99
0
-



02/17/99
0
-



02/18/99
0
-



02/19/99
0
-



02/20/99
0
-



02/21/99
0
-



02/22/99
0
-



02/23/99
0
-



02/24/99
0
-



02/25/99
0
-



02/26/99
0
-



02/27/99
0
-



02/28/99
0
-



03/01/99
0
-



03/02/99
0
-



03/03/99
0
-



03/04/99
0
-



03/05/99
0
-



03/06/99
0
-



03/07/99
0
-



03/08/99
0
-



03/09/99
0
-



03/10/99
0
-



03/11/99
0
-



03/12/99
0
-



03/13/99
0
-



03/14/99
0
-



03/15/99
0
-



03/16/99
0
-



03/17/99
0
-



03/18/99
0
-



03/19/99
0
-



03/20/99
0
-



03/21/99
0
-



03/22/99
0
-



03/23/99
0
-



03/24/99
0
-



03/25/99
0
-



03/26/99
0
-



03/27/99
0
-



03/28/99
0
-



03/29/99
0
-



03/30/99
0
-



03/31/99
0
-



04/01/99
0
-



04/02/99
0
-



04/03/99
0
-



04/04/99
0
-



04/05/99
0
-



04/06/99
0
-



04/07/99
0
-



04/08/99
0
-



04/09/99
0
-



04/10/99
0
-



04/11/99
0
-



04/12/99
0
-



04/13/99
0
-



04/14/99
0
-



04/15/99
0
-



04/16/99
0
-



04/17/99
0
-



04/18/99
0
-



04/19/99
0
-



04/20/99
0
-



04/21/99
0
-



04/22/99
0
-



04/23/99
0
-



04/24/99
0
-



04/25/99
0
-



04/26/99
0
-



04/27/99
0
-



04/28/99
0
-



04/29/99
0
-



04/30/99
0
-



05/01/99
0
-



05/02/99
0
-



05/03/99
0
-



05/04/99
0
-



05/05/99
0
-



05/06/99
0
-



05/07/99
0
-



05/08/99
0
-



05/09/99
0
-



05/10/99
0
-



05/11/99
0
-



05/12/99
0
-



05/13/99
0
-



05/14/99
0
-



05/15/99
0
-



05/16/99
0
-



05/17/99
0
-



05/18/99
0
-



05/19/99
0
-



05/20/99
0
-



05/21/99
0
-



05/22/99
0
-



05/23/99
0
-



05/24/99
0
-



05/25/99
0
-



05/26/99
0
-



05/27/99
0
-



05/28/99
0
-



05/29/99
0
-



05/30/99
0
-



06/01/99
0
-



06/02/99
0
-



06/03/99
0
-



06/04/99
0
-



06/05/99
0
-



06/06/99
0
-



06/07/99
0
-



06/08/99
0
-



06/09/99
0
-



06/10/99
0
-



06/11/99
0
-



06/12/99
0
-



06/13/99
0
-



06/14/99
0
-



06/15/99
0
-



06/16/99
0
-



06/17/99
0
-



06/18/99
0
-



06/19/99
0
-



06/20/99
0
-



06/21/99
0
-



06/22/99
0
-



06/23/99
0
-



06/24/99
0
-



06/25/99
0
-



06/26/99
0
-



06/27/99
0
-



06/28/99
0
-



06/29/99
0
-



06/30/99
0
-



07/01/99
0
-



07/02/99
0
-



07/03/99
0
-



07/04/99
0
-



07/05/99
0
-



07/06/99
0
-



07/07/99
0
-



07/08/99
0
-



07/09/99
0
-



07/10/99
0
-



07/11/99
0
-



07/12/99
0
-



07/13/99
0
-



07/14/99
0
-



07/15/99

0

-



Total
   0


P.O.
05/09/99
1
E



05/14/99
0
-



05/15/99
3
A



05/20/99
1
E



05/23/99
4
A



06/13/99
0
-



06/16/99
0
-



06/22/99

0

-



Total
9


L.P.
10/12/98
4
F



01/06/99
2
H



01/07/99

2

H



Total
8


C.R.

08/01/98
3
F



08/02/98
3
F



01/07/99
0
-



01/08/99
0
-



01/09/99
0
-



01/10/99
0
-



01/15/99
0
-



01/29/99
2
D



02/16/99
0
-



02/17/99
0
-



02/20/99
0
-



02/22/99
0
-



02/24/99
0
-



02/25/99
0
-



02/26/99
0
-



02/27/99
0
-



03/10/99
1
E



03/13/99
1
E



03/22/99
2
E



04/12/99
2
C



04/13/99
2
C



04/14/99
2
C



04/15/99
2
C



05/10/99
3
H



05/11/99
3
H



05/12/99
3
H



05/13/99
3
H



05/14/99
3
H



05/15/99
3
H



05/16/99
0
-



05/17/99
3
C



05/18/99
3
C



05/19/99
3
C



05/20/99
3
C



05/21/99
3
C



05/22/99
3
C



05/30/99
0
-



05/31/99
3
F



06/01/99
1
E



06/05/99

1

E



Total
61


A.S.
03/16/99
2
D



03/18/99
2
D



03/25/99
1
G


04/08/99
1
G



04/13/99
1
G



04/15/99
1
G



04/16/99
0
-



04/19/99
4
F



04/20/99
4
F



04/22/99
4
F



04/23/99
5
F



05/22/99
2
F



05/23/99
2
F



05/25/99
1
G



05/27/99
1
G



06/07/99
2
H



06/08/99
2
H



06/09/99
2
H



06/10/99
2
H



06/11/99
2
H



06/15/99
1
G



06/16/99
1
G



06/17/99
1
G



06/18/99
1
G



06/22/99
1
G



06/24/99

1

G



Total
47


M.L.S.
06/24/98
0
-



06/25/98
0
-



06/26/98
0
-



08/03/98
4
A



08/04/98

4

A



Total
8


E.T.
08/21/98
0
-



11/02/98
3
H



11/04/98
2
H



11/06/98
3
H



12/04/98
3
D



12/17/98
2
H



12/18/98
2
H



02/19/99
1
E



02/22/99
1
E



02/24/99
1
E



02/26/99
0
-



03/03/99

0

-



Total
18


M.T.
11/10/98
2
H



11/12/98
3
H



12/13/98
4
F



12/16/98
0
-



03/30/99
1
E



04/12/99
2
F



04/21/99
1
E



05/05/99

1

E



Total
14


I.T.
07/19/98
1
E



09/01/98
1
E



09/02/98
1
E



09/03/98
1
E



09/04/98
1
E



09/05/98
1
E



09/07/98
1
E



09/09/98
1
E



09/14/98
4
F



09/15/98
3
F



09/29/98
1
F



10/26/98
2
E



10/28/98
2
E



11/02/98
0
-



11/04/98
0
-



11/06/98
0
-



11/07/98
0
-



12/09/98
0
-



12/11/98
0
-



12/12/98
0
-



12/18/98
0
-



12/19/98
0
-



01/27/99
0
-



02/15/99
2
F



03/29/99
3
F



04/25/99
4
F



05/20/99
3
F



07/07/99
1
E



07/09/99

1

E



Total
34


C.V.T.
10/05/98
4
F



10/06/98
4
F



10/07/98
4
F



10/12/98
5
F



10/13/98
5
F



10/14/98
5
F



10/15/98
5
F



12/16/98
0
-



12/17/98
0
-



12/18/98
0
-



12/19/98
0
-



12/20/98
0
-



12/21/98
0
-



12/22/98
0
-



12/23/98
0
-



01/22/99
0
-



01/23/99

0

-



Total
32


P.W.
07/01/98
4
F



07/02/98
4
F



07/03/98
4
F



07/04/98
5
F



07/05/98
5
F



07/06/98
4
F



07/07/98
4
F



07/08/98
4
F



07/09/98
4
F



07/10/98
4
F



07/11/98
5
F



07/12/98
4
F



07/13/98
4
F



07/14/98
3
F



07/15/98
3
F



07/17/98
3
F



07/18/98
3
F



07/19/98
2
F



07/22/98
1
E



07/23/98
1
E



07/27/98
3
F



07/28/98
3
F



07/29/98
3
F



07/30/98
2
F



08/02/98
3
F



08/03/98
4
F



08/04/98
3
F



08/05/98
4
F



08/06/98
5
F



08/07/98
5
F



08/08/98
5
F



08/09/98
3
F



08/11/98
1
E



08/14/98
1
E



09/01/98
4
F



09/02/98
4
F



09/03/98
4
F



09/04/98
4
F



09/05/98
5
F



09/06/98
5
F



10/26/98
3
F



10/27/98
3
F



10/28/98
3
F



10/29/98
3
F



10/30/98
3
F



11/01/98
4
F



03/22/99
2
F



03/23/99
2
F



03/24/99
2
F



03/25/99
3
F



03/26/99
2
F



03/27/99
2
F



03/28/99
4
F



03/29/99
4
F



03/30/99
4
F



03/31/99

4

F



Total
190


B.W.
02/26/99
2
E



02/27/99
1
E



02/28/99

2

E



Total
5


T.W.
01/23/99
1
E



01/24/99
1
E



02/24/99
1
E



02/25/99
1
E



03/27/99
2
E



03/28/99
2
E



05/10/99
0
-



05/11/99
0
-



05/12/99
0
-



05/13/99
0
-



05/14/99
0
-



05/15/99

0

-



Total
8


R.W.
04/01/99
2
A



05/17/99
3
F



05/19/99
3
F



05/21/99

2

F



Total
10


24.  Kare-More was overpaid $39,449.76 by the Department (3,304 units x $11.94 per unit).


25.  DA monitors performed a subsequent on-site monitoring visit at Kare-More’s offices prior to April 12, 2001.  Kathryn Johnson was present during the visit.  The monitors informed Kathryn Johnson that Kare-More received a passing score for compliance with the Department’s regulations.

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear Kare-More's complaint.  Sections 208.156.8 and 621.055.1.
  We do not merely review the Department’s decision, but we find the facts and make an independent decision by applying existing law to the facts.  Geriatric Nursing Facility v. Department of Soc. Servs., 693 S.W.2d 206, 209 (Mo. App., W.D. 1985).  We have the same degree of discretion as the Department and need not exercise it the same way.  State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Finch, 514 S.W.2d 608, 614 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974). 


Kare-More has the burden of proof and must prove its case by a preponderance of the credible evidence.  Harrington v. Smarr, 844 S.W.2d 16, 19 (Mo. App., W.D. 1992).  This Commission must judge the credibility of witnesses, and we have the discretion to believe all, part, or none of the testimony of any witness.  Harrington, 844 S.W.2d at 19.  When there is a direct conflict in the testimony, we must make a choice between the conflicting testimony.  Id.  Our Findings of Fact reflect our determination of the credibility of witnesses.


Personal care services and homemaker services are provided to Medicaid recipients in their homes as an alternative to institutional care.  13 CSR 70-91.010(1); 13 CSR 15-7.021(7). Regulation 13 CSR 15-7.021(10) defines basic personal care services as maintenance services 

provided in a client’s home to assist with the activities of daily living, including, but not limited to, meal preparation and assistance with eating, dressing, grooming, bathing, and personal hygiene.  Regulation 13 CSR 15-7.021(7) defines homemaker services as general household activities provided by a trained homemaker when the client is unable to manage the home.  Homemaker services include cleaning the house, laundering clothes and linens, and performing essential errands.  Id.

I.  Medicaid Overpayment

Kare-More provided services for which benefit payments are authorized under section 208.152 and under Title XIX of the Federal Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. sections 1397, et seq.  Section 208.152.1(18) provides in part for benefit payments for:


Personal care services which are medically oriented tasks having to do with a person’s physical requirements, as opposed to housekeeping requirements, which enable a person to be treated by his physician on an outpatient, rather than on an inpatient or residential basis in a hospital, intermediate care facility, or skilled nursing facility.  Personal care services shall be rendered by an individual not a member of the recipient’s family who is qualified to provide such services where the services are prescribed by a physician in accordance with a plan of treatment and are supervised by a licensed nurse.

(Emphasis added.)  Pursuant to sections 208.153.1 and 208.201, DMS is authorized to define by rule and regulation the reasonable costs, manner, extent, and quality of medical assistance consistent with the provisions of sections 208.151 and 208.152.  Section 208.201.5(8) provides:

5.  In addition to the powers, duties and functions vested in the division of medical services by other provisions of this chapter or by other laws of this state, the division of medical services shall have the power:

*   *   *

(8) To define, establish and implement the policies and procedures necessary to administer payments to providers under the medical assistance program[.]


The Department asserts that Kare-More was overpaid by the Medicaid program in the amount of  $73,705.62 for the coded reasons set forth in its notice of overpayment.  Kare-More denies that any overpayment exists.  Kare-More argues that it did not receive adequate notice of the monitoring visit, which did not allow Kathryn Johnson to be present during the visit.  However, the Department’s Regulation 13 CSR 15-7.021(18)(U) provides that the monitoring visits may be either announced or unannounced. 

The Department argues that Kare-More violated the regulations by failing to keep adequate records of services rendered and that the provider is liable for the sanction of an overpayment assessment.  Kare-More argues that the Department assessed the overpayment on the basis of subjective policies, not on the basis of duly promulgated rules and regulations. 

The Department’s regulations define adequate records in 13 CSR 70-3.030(1)(A):

Adequate documentation means documentation from which services rendered and the amount of reimbursement received by a provider can be readily discerned and verified with reasonable certainty. . . .

(Emphasis added.)  

Regulation 13 CSR 70-91.010(4) regarding Medicaid reimbursement states:

(A) Payment will be made in accordance with the fee per unit of service as defined and determined by the Division of Medical Services.

1.  A unit of service is one (1) hour.

2.  Documentation for services delivered by the provider must include the following:

A. The recipient’s name and Medicaid number;
B. The date of service;
C. The time spent providing the service which must be documented in one of the following manners:
(I) When personal care aide is providing services to one (1) individual in a private home setting . . . the actual clock time the aide began the services for that visit is the start time, and the actual clock time the aide finished the care for the visit is the stop time[.]

*   *   *

D.  A description of the service;

E.  The name of the personal care aide who provided the service; and 

F.  For each date of service, the signature of the recipient, or the mark of the recipient witnessed by at least one (1) person, or the signature of another responsible person present in the recipient’s home[.]

(Emphasis added.)


The Department’s Regulation 13 CSR 70-3.030 states:

(2) Program Violations.


(A) Sanctions may be imposed by the Medicaid agency against a provider for any one (1) or more of the following reasons:

*   *   *


4.  Making available, and disclosing to the Medicaid agency or its authorized agents, all records relating to services provided to Medicaid recipients and Medicaid payments, whether or not the records are commingled with non-Title XIX records is mandatory for all providers.  Copies of records must be provided upon request of the Medicaid agency or its authorized agents.  Failure to make these records available on a timely basis at the same site at which the services were rendered, or failure to provide copies as requested, or failure to keep and make available adequate records which adequately document the services and payments shall constitute a violation of this section and shall be a reason for sanction[.]

(Emphasis added).  

Kare-More argues that it described in writing the tasks performed and relevant time periods for services provided to each client.  Kare-More relies on the general statements made by 

Kathryn Johnson.  However, the Department’s evidence of documentation obtained during the monitoring visit is a much more reliable basis to judge whether the documentation was adequate under the law.  

Kare-More insists that the Department’s Regulation 13 CSR 70-91.010(4)(A)2 makes no mention of “time sheets,” but only requires “documentation.”  The Department asserts that the services must be documented, although a form called a “time sheet” is not required.  We note that Kare-More’s documentation consisted of time sheets, although Kare-More was entitled to document the services with any forms that contained the information needed to meet the requirements set forth in the regulations.  Since Kare-More used time sheets to document the services rendered, we consider those records in making our determination. 
Code A:  Time Sheets Fail to Record Tasks Performed

The Department’s Regulation 13 CSR 70-91.010(4)(A)2.D requires documentation to include “a description of the service” that was provided.  The record establishes that Kare-More’s documentation, which it kept in the form of time sheets, failed to record and describe the services or tasks that were performed for clients.  We therefore conclude that Kare-More violated 13 CSR 70-91.010(4)(A)2.D by failing to document tasks and services performed.

Code B:  Time Sheets Fail to Record Times Service Began or Ended

The Department’s Regulation 13 CSR 70-91.010(4)(A)2.C.I provides that documentation must show the actual clock time that the aide began and completed the services for each client.  The record establishes that Kare-More’s documentation, which it kept in the form of time sheets, failed to record actual clock time when the aide began and finished the services.  We therefore conclude that Kare-More violated 13 CSR 70-91.010(4)(A)2.C.I.
Code C:  Time Sheets Without Client Signature

The Department’s Regulation 13 CSR 70-91.010(4)(A)2.F requires documentation to include the signature of the recipient, or the mark of the recipient, witnessed by at least one person, or the signature of another responsible person present in the home.  The record establishes that Kare-More’s documentation, which it kept in the form of time sheets, failed to record signatures or marks of clients for each date of service, or the signatures of other responsible persons present in the home if the client was unable to sign.  We therefore conclude that Kare-More violated 13 CSR 70-91.010(4)(A)2.F.

Code D:  Overlapping Time Sheets

The record establishes that time sheets of Kare-More’s aides overlapped with time sheets of other clients allegedly served by the same aide at the same time.  These overlapping time sheets establish that Kare-More failed to document the actual time for services rendered and thereby violated the record keeping requirements of 13 CSR 70-91.010(4)(A)2.C.I.

Code E:  Billing for More Time than Time Sheet Indicated

Kare-More billed for more time than the time sheets indicate.  Kare-More failed to document the actual time spent providing services and thereby violated the record keeping requirements of 13 CSR 70-91.010(4)(A)2.

Code F:  Missing Time Sheets

Kare-More billed for time, but no time sheets were found for those dates of service.  Kare-More failed to document the actual time spent providing services and thereby violated the record keeping requirements of 13 CSR 70-91.010(4)(A)2.

Code G:  Time Sheets Lacking Travel Time Between Clients

Time sheets indicate that aides served different clients but failed to allow for travel time between clients.  By failing to document the travel time, Kare-More failed to document the 

actual time spent providing services and thereby violated the record keeping requirements of 13 CSR 70-91.010(4)(A)2.

Code H:  Two Time Sheets for Client with Same Time

Time sheets indicate that some aides completed two different time sheets for the same client for the same time periods.  Kare-More failed to document the actual time spent providing services and thereby violated the record keeping requirements of 13 CSR 70-91.010(4)(A)2.
Code J:
  Date Changed on Time Sheet; Aide Signature Does Not Match
Time sheets indicate that dates where changed on time sheets and that the purported signature of the aide did not match other signatures of the aide.  Some person at Kare-More appears to have changed the times of service and inserted a purported signature of the aide.   Kare-More thereby violated the record keeping requirements of 13 CSR 70-91.010(4)(A)2.

Code L:  Every Task Marked on Time Sheet

The Department alleges that Josh Voorhees marked every task on every time sheet for client H.C.  However, our review of the time sheets indicates that Voorhees marked the majority of the tasks, but only on a few occasions marked all of the tasks, during the time period in question.  The time sheets do not establish that the provider failed to record a description of specific tasks provided on each date of service.  Voorhees’ time sheets did not violate the record keeping requirements of 13 CSR 70-91.010(4)(A)2.

Code M:  Aide is Client’s Daughter


Kare-More allowed client V.B. to receive services from Kare-More employee Duoc Bui, who was the daughter of V.B.  Kare-More allowed client T.T.N. to receive services from aide Hoa Tran.  However, the record does not show that Hoa Tran is the daughter of T.T.N.  Kare-More did not have any waivers that would have permitted services provided by a client’s family members.  


Section 208.152.1(18) provides that an aide may not be a member of the recipient’s family.  The Department’s Regulation 13 CSR 70-91.010(3)(K)4 provides that an aide:


May not be a family member of the recipient for whom personal care is to be provided.  A family member is defined as a parent; sibling; child by blood; adoption or marriage; spouse; grandparent or grandchild.

Kare-More billed for services provided by Duoc Bui to her mother, V.B.  Kare-More thereby violated section 208.152.1(18) and Regulation 13 CSR 70-91.010(3)(K)4.

Code N:  Time Sheets Indicate they were Forged

Several time sheets contain notations stating that they were forged, and the client signatures appear to be forged.  Kare-More billed for such services.  Kare-More thereby violated the record keeping requirements of 13 CSR 70-91.010(4)(A)2.

Code O:  Client Served by Boyfriend that Resided with Her


Kare-More’s aide Josh Voorhees provided services to his girlfriend, H.C.  Voorhees and H.C. lived together at the same residence.  Section 208.152.1(18) provides that an aide may not be a member of the recipient’s family.  The Department’s Regulation 13 CSR 70-91.010(3)(K)4 provides that an aide may not be a spouse or family member of the recipient for whom personal care services are provided.  However, the record does not show that aide Voorhees was a spouse or family member of client H.C.


The Department cites the provisions of the Medicaid agreement and SSBG agreement that require Kare-More to follow the Department’s manuals and bulletins.  The Department alleges that the DMS Personal Care Manual prohibits personal care aides from providing services to members of their family or household.  Kare-More argues that an overpayment can only be assessed on the basis of duly promulgated rules and regulations.  Kare-More points out that the rules and regulations do not prohibit an aide from providing services to members of their household if the client and aide are not family members.


The Department failed to provide evidence that its manuals or bulletins for the period in question would prevent an aide from providing services to a client that resides in the same household if the client and aide are not family members.  Even if the Department had provided evidence of its manuals or bulletins, those items alone, without duly promulgated rules or regulations, are insufficient to deny payments to Medicaid providers.  NME Hosp. v. Department of Soc. Servs., 850 S.W.2d 71, 74-75 (Mo. banc 1993).  We conclude that Kare-More was not overpaid for services rendered by Voorhees and that such services were not in violation of section 208.152.1(18) and Regulation 13 CSR 70-91.010(3)(K)4.

Sanction for Medicaid Overpayment

The failure to maintain adequate documentation of services is grounds for a sanction to be imposed.  13 CSR 70-2.030(2)(A)(4).  Kare-More failed to maintain documentation from which the services rendered and the amounts of reimbursement were “readily discerned and verified with reasonable certainty” pursuant to 13 CSR 70-3.030(1)(A).  To determine the appropriate sanction, we consider the criteria set forth in 13 CSR 70-3.030(4)(A):  the seriousness of the offenses; the extent of the violations, the history of prior violations; prior imposition of sanctions; prior provision of provider education; and actions taken by peer review 

groups, licensing boards, professional review organizations or utilization review committees.  Regulation 13 CSR 70-3.030(4)(A) provides the following factors to be considered in determining a sanction:


1.  Seriousness of the offense(s)—The state agency shall consider the seriousness of the offense(s) including, but not limited to, whether or not an overpayment (that is, financial harm) occurred to the program, whether substandard services were rendered to Medicaid recipients, or circumstances were such that the provider’s behavior could have caused or contributed to inadequate or dangerous medical care for any patient(s), or a combination of these.  Violation of pharmacy laws or rules, practices potentially dangerous to patients and fraud are to be considered particularly serious; 


2.  Extent of violations—The state Medicaid agency shall consider the extent of the violations as measured by, but not limited to, the number of patients involved, the number of Medicaid claims involved, the number of dollars identified in any overpayment and the length of time over which the violations occurred. . . . 


3.  History of prior violations—The state agency shall consider whether or not the provider has been given notice of prior violations of this rule or other program policies.  If the provider has received notice and has failed to correct the deficiencies or has resumed the deficient performance, a history shall be given substantial weight supporting the agency’s decision to invoke sanctions.  If the history includes a prior imposition of sanction, the agency should not apply a lesser sanction in the second case, even if the subsequent violations are of a different nature; 


4.  Prior imposition of sanctions—The Medicaid agency shall consider more severe sanctions in cases where a provider has been subject to sanctions by the Missouri Medicaid program, any other governmental medical program, Medicare or exclusion by any private medical insurance carriers for misconduct in billing or professional practice.  Restricted or limited participation in compromise after being notified or a more severe sanction should be considered as a prior imposition of a sanction for the purpose of this subsection;


5.  Prior provision of provider education—In cases where sanctions are being considered for billing deficiencies only, the Medicaid agency may mitigate its sanction if it determines that prior provider education was not provided. . . . 


6.  Actions taken or recommended by peer review groups, licensing boards or Professional Review Organizations (PRO) or utilization review committees—Actions or recommendations by a provider’s peers shall be considered as serious if they involve a determination that the provider has kept or allowed to be kept, substandard medical records, negligently or carelessly performed treatment or services, or, in the case of licensing boards, placed the provider under restrictions or on probation.


One of the above factors we consider in determining the seriousness of the offense is harm to the program in the form of an overpayment.  Kare-More received substantial overpayments.  We note that the violations are extensive and involve a high number of claims.  Further, Kare-More has a history of prior violations in the two previous years and has been subject to the sanction of recoupment for both years involving similar violations.  


The sanctions for program violations are set forth at 13 CSR 70-3.030(3).  The sanctions include withholding future provider payments, termination or suspension from participation in the Medicaid program, suspension or withholding of payments, referral to peer review committees or utilization committees, recoupment of future payments, education sessions, prior authorization of services, or referral for investigation.   Regulation 13 CSR 70-3.030(3)(B) provides for the sanction of termination from participation in the Medicaid program for a period of not less than 60 days and not more than 10 years.  


Many of the overpayment problems involved missing or inadequate documentation of services.  In many cases, Kare-More’s documentation does not indicate the specific services provided, the time period that services were provided, or even if any services at all were provided on the dates billed.  We therefore conclude that it is appropriate for Kare-More to repay the total amount overpaid of $39,449.76.  

II.  SSBG Contract Termination


Kare-More provided services for which benefit payments are authorized under section 208.152 and under Title XX of the Federal Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. section 1397, et seq.  Section 660.050.2(21) authorizes DA to implement the Title XX Social Services Block Grant program and provides in part:


[T]he division shall . . . [p]rovide . . . in-home services . . . to the elderly and low-income handicapped adults as designated in the Social Services Block Grant Report, through contract with other agencies, and shall monitor such agencies to ensure that services contracted for are delivered and meet standards of quality set by the division[.]


Pursuant to section 660.050.6, DA is authorized to promulgate rules to enforce and implement the powers set forth in section 660.050.  DA promulgated Regulation 13 CSR 15-7.021, which provides that in-home service providers shall comply with the regulations and with the terms of the SSBG contract.  Regulation 13 CSR 15-7.021 provides in relevant part:

(1) The Department of Social Services, Division of Aging’s payment to the provider is made on behalf of an eligible client as an act of indirect or third-party reimbursement and is not made as a payment for the purchase of a service.  However, only those services authorized by the Division of Aging shall be reimbursable to the provider.

(2) The in-home service provider shall deliver services in compliance with the standards set forth in this rule.  

(3) Failure of the provider to comply with the terms of the contract and these standards may constitute a breach of contract. 


The relevant standards for employment and training of aides by in-home service providers and maintaining proper records are set forth in 13 CSR 15-7.021, which provides in part:

(15) Clients shall be accepted for the care on the basis of a reasonable expectation that the client’s maintenance care needs can be met adequately by the agency in the client’s place of residence.  

Services shall follow a written state-approved service plan developed in collaboration with and signed by the client.


(A) The service plan shall consist of an identification of the services and tasks to be provided, frequency of services, the maximum number of units of service per month, functional limitations of the client, nutritional requirements if a special diet is necessary, medications and treatments as appropriate, and any safety measures necessary to protect against injury and any other appropriate items.


(B) . . . .  The service provider must always have, and provide services in accordance with, a current service plan. . . . 

*   *   *

(18) The in-home service provider shall meet, at a minimum, the following administrative requirements:

*   *   *


(H) Ensure that no in-home services worker is a member of the immediate family of the client being served by that worker.  An immediate family member is defined as a parent; sibling; child by blood, adoption, or marriage; spouse; grandparent or grandchild;

*   *   *


(K) Deliver the in-home service within seven (7) calendar days of receipt of the service authorization from the Division of Aging case manager or on the beginning date specified by the authorization, whichever is later, and on a regular basis after that in accordance with the service plan.  The date of receipt must be recorded on each service authorization by the provider.  If service is not initiated within the required time period, detailed written justification must be sent to the Division of Aging case manager with a copy maintained in the client’s file[.]

*   *   *

(19) In-home service providers shall meet, at a minimum, the following personnel requirements:  

*   *   *


(B) All in-home service workers employed by the provider shall meet the following requirements:


1.  Be at least eighteen (18) years of age;

2.  Be able to read, write and follow directions; and

3.  Have at least six (6) months paid work experience as any agency homemaker, nurse aide, maid or household worker; or at least one (1) year’s experience, paid or unpaid, in caring for children or for sick or aged individuals.  Successful completion of formal training in nursing arts or as a nurse aide or home health aide can substitute for the qualifying experience[.]

*   *   *

(E) In-home service providers must evaluate health conditions of all in-home employees who have direct contact—

1.  Establish, implement, and enforce a policy governing communicable diseases that prohibits provider staff contact with clients when the employee has a communicable condition, including colds or flu . . . . 

*   *   *

(20) The in-home service administrative supervisor’s responsibilities shall include, at a minimum, the following functions:


(A) Monitoring the provision of services by the in-home services worker to assure that services are being delivered in accordance with the service plan.  This shall be primarily in the form of an at least monthly review and comparison of the worker’s record of provided services with the service plan.  Documentation must be kept on clients with a delivery rate of less than eighty percent (80%) of the authorized units of in-home service.  For each client with a delivery rate less than eighty percent (80%) of the authorized units of in-home services authorized for the time period being reviewed, the number of units of service delivered and the non-delivery code will be sent to the Division of Aging regional manager monthly on a form acceptable to the regional manager. . . 

*   *   *


(C) Evaluating, in writing, each in-home service aide’s performance at least annually.  The evaluation shall be based in part on at least one (1) on-site visit. . . .  If the required evaluation is not performed or not documented, the aide’s qualifications to provide the services may be presumed inadequate and all payments made for services by that aide may be recouped . . . .

*   *   *  

(22) The in-home service provider shall have a written plan for providing training for new aides, respite care workers and homemakers which shall include, at a minimum, the following requirements:


(A) Twenty (20) hours of orientation training for in-home service workers, including at least two (2) hours orientation to the provider agency and the agency’s protocols for handling emergencies, within thirty (30) days of employment.


1.  Eight (8) hours of classroom training will be provided prior to the first day of client contact.


2.  Twelve (12) hours of required orientation training may be waived for aides and homemakers with adequate documentation in the employee’s records that s/he has received similar training during the current or preceding fiscal year or has been employed at least half-time for six (6) months or more within the current or preceding fiscal year.


3.  May waive all orientation training, except that the required minimum of two (2) hours’ provider agency orientation to the provider agency, with documentation, placed in the aide’s personnel record, that the aide is a licensed practical nurse, registered nurse or certified nurse assistant.  The documentation shall include the employee’s license or certification number current at the time the training was waived[.] 

*   *   *

(23) The in-home service provider shall have written documentation of all basic and in-service training provided which includes, at a minimum, a report of each employee’s training in that employee’s personnel record.  The report shall document the dates of all classroom or on-the-job training, trainer’s name, topics, number of hours and location, the date of the first client contact and shall include the aide’s signature.  If a 

provider waives the in-service training, the employee’s training record shall contain supportive data for the waiver. 

(24) The in-home service provider shall maintain, at a minimum, the following records in a central location for five (5) years and provide them to the Department of Social Services staff or designees upon request:


(A) Individual client case or clinical records including records of service provision.  These are confidential and shall be protected from damage, theft and unauthorized inspection and shall include, at a minimum, the following:


1.  The authorization for service forms (LTACS Client Report) from the Division of Aging which documents authorization for all units of service provided; 


2.  Individual worker’s record that lists the client’s name, dates of service delivery, time spent on each day, activities performed, aide’s signature and the client’s signature verifying each date(s) of service.  If the client is unable to sign, another responsible person present in the home during service delivery may sign to verify the time and activities reported or the client may have his/her mark (x) which shall be witnessed by a minimum of one (1) person who may be the aide or homemaker.  If these documents are not maintained in the client’s case record, they must be readily available for monitoring or inspection;


3.  Copies of the supervisory monitoring log explaining discrepancies between authorized and delivered services including a description of corrective action taken, must be maintained in a central location and available for monitoring or inspection by the Department of Social Services;


4.  Any registered nurse clinical notes concerning the client;


5.  Documentation of all correspondence and contacts with the client’s physician or other care providers;


6.  Copies of written communication transmitted to and from the Division of Aging case manager; and


7.  Any other pertinent documentation regarding the client;

(B) Individual personnel record for each employee which is a confidential record and shall be protected from damage, theft and unauthorized inspection and shall include, at a minimum, the following:

1.  Employment application with the employee’s signature showing requirements met for age, education, work experience and the dates employed and terminated by the service provider;

2.  Documentation of at least two (2) references successfully contacted; 

3.  Documentation concerning all training and certification received;

4.  Documentation for any waiver of employment or training requirements;

5.  Annual performance evaluation which includes observations from one (1) on-site visit;


6.  A signed statement verifying that the employee received and reviewed a copy of the client’s rights, the code of ethics and that the service provider’s policy regarding confidentiality of client information was explained prior to service delivery;


7.  A signed statement verifying that the supervisor received and reviewed a copy of the in-home service standards[.]

(Emphasis added.)


Section 660.317.3 provides:


3.  Beginning on August 28, 1997, not later than two working days of hiring any person for a full-time, part-time or temporary position to have contact with any patient or resident the provider shall, or in the case of temporary employees hired through an employment agency, the employment agency shall prior to sending a temporary employee to a provider:


(1) Request a criminal background check as provided in section 43.540, RSMo.  Completion of an inquiry to the highway patrol for criminal records that are available for disclosure to a provider for the purpose of conducting an employee criminal records background check shall be deemed to fulfill the provider’s 

duty to conduct employee criminal background checks pursuant to this section; except that, completing the inquiries pursuant to this subsection shall not be construed to exempt a provider from further inquiry pursuant to common law requirements governing due diligence[.]

(Emphasis added.)


Paragraph 2 of the SSBG contract provides that Kare-More agrees to comply with all state and federal regulations pertaining to in-home services.  Paragraph 19 of the contract provides that the Department may terminate the contract at any time for nonfeasance, misfeasance or malfeasance of the contractual obligations by the provider.  Paragraph 28 of the contract provides that Kare-More shall keep and maintain adequate, legible, genuine, and complete records to verify the delivery of services.


Kare-More asserts that all documentation required under the SSBG contract and regulations was in the files.  Kare-More relies on the general statements made by Kathryn Johnson.  However, the Department’s evidence of documentation obtained during the monitoring visit is a much more reliable basis to judge whether the documentation was adequate under the law.    


DA argues that termination of the contract is appropriate because Kare-More failed to document all the matters set forth in the regulations.  Kare-More asserts that the regulations do not specify what documentation is required concerning a communicable disease policy, an in-home service worker’s training, criminal background checks, and missed services.  However, paragraph 28 the SSBG contract specifies that Kare-More shall keep and maintain complete records to verify that the services are delivered in compliance with state and federal regulations.  Regulation 13 CSR 15-7.021(24) requires the provider to maintain documentation of service delivery, worker training, and personnel records for a period of five years.  Although the specific 

manner or exact form of making the documentation is not described in the regulations, Kare-More is required to keep and maintain documentation concerning a communicable disease policy, in-home service worker training, criminal background checks, and missed services.

1.  Employee Verifications


Regulation 13 CSR 15-7.021(24)(B)6 states that a provider must maintain signed statements in its employee files verifying that the employees have received and reviewed a copy of the client’s rights, code of ethics, and service provider’s policy regarding confidentiality of client information.  Of 17 Kare-More employee files that were reviewed, 10 were missing signed statements verifying that the employee received and reviewed these items.  We conclude that Kare-More violated 13 CSR 15-7.021(24)(B)6.  

2.  Supervisor Verifications


Regulation 13 CSR 15-7.021(24)(B)7 states that a provider must maintain signed statements verifying that supervisors received and reviewed a copy of the in-home service standards.  Of 2 supervisor files reviewed, 2 were missing the signed statement verifying that the supervisor received and reviewed the in-home service standards.  We conclude that Kare-More violated 13 CSR 15-7.021(24)(B)7.

3.   Communicable Condition Policy


Regulation 13 CSR 15-7.021(19)(E)1 states that a provider must “[e]stablish, implement, and enforce a policy governing communicable diseases” to prohibit employee contact with clients when the employee has a communicable condition, including a cold or the flu.  Of 17 employee files reviewed, 14 did not contain documentation of a policy that prohibits staff from contact with clients when the employee has a communicable condition.  Although Kathryn Johnson testified that Kare-More had such a policy in place, there was no evidence that a written 

policy was implemented with the employees of Kare-More.  We conclude that Kare-More violated 13 CSR 15-7.021(19)(E)1.

4.  Basic Hire Requirements


Regulation 13 CSR 15-7.021(19)(B) states that a provider’s employees must be at least 18 years of age, must be able to read, write, and follow directions, and must have experience in a care-giving capacity of six months to one year, depending on the type of experience.  Of 15 employee files that were reviewed, 2 did not contain documentation that the employee met these basic requirements for hire.  We conclude that Kare-More violated 13 CSR 15-7.021(19)(B).

5.  Criminal Record Review


Section 660.317 states that providers must request criminal background checks on employees within two days of hire.  Of 15 employee files that were reviewed, 5 did not contain documentation of criminal background checks.  We conclude that Kare-More violated section 660.317.

6.  Annual Performance Exam


Regulation 13 CSR 15-7.021(20) states that a provider must annually evaluate the performance of employees in writing.  Of 15 employee files that were reviewed, 4 contained no documentation of an annual performance examination, and of the remaining 11 files, 8 evaluations were not performed in a timely manner.  We conclude that Kare-More violated 13 CSR 15-7.021(20).

7.  Training Requirements


Regulation 13 CSR 15-7.021(22)(A) requires 20 hours of orientation training for in-home service workers within 30 days of employment and 8 hours of classroom training before first client contact.  A provider must maintain written documentation of all training provided and any 

waivers.  13 CSR 15-7.021(23).  Of 9 employee files that were reviewed, all 9 were missing documentation of all or part of the required training or necessary waivers.  We conclude that Kare-More violated 13 CSR 15-7.021(22)(A) and (23).

8.  Approved Plan


Regulation 13 CSR 15-7.021(15) states that a provider must be able to meet the client’s maintenance care needs as set forth in the care plan and must serve the client with the frequency set forth in the care plan.  Of 10 client files that were reviewed, 6 did not show documentation that they received services in accordance with an approved plan and did not document reasons for missed services.  We conclude that Kare-More violated 13 CSR 15-7.021(15).

9. DA-220 Report


Regulation 13 CSR 15-7.021(20)(A) states that a provider must notify the Department if it delivers less than 80% of the units of service authorized for the client.  Kare-More failed to report clients receiving less than 80% of authorized services and failed to complete a DA-220 to notify the Department.  We conclude that Kare-More violated 13 CSR 15-7.021(20)(A).

10.  Initiation of Services


Regulation 13 CSR 15-7.021(18)(K) states that a provider must initiate client services within 7 days of receipt of the authorization to provide services or on the date specified in the authorization.  The provider must notify the Department if it does not initiate services in a timely manner.  13 CSR 15-7.021(18)(K).  Of 10 new client files reviewed, 5 did not contain documentation of the initiation of services within 7 days or the date specified in the authorization and did not contain documentation that the Department had been notified of the delay in service.  We conclude that Kare-More violated 13 CSR 15-7.021(18)(K).

Summary of Title XX Contract Termination


Kare-More failed to comply with regulations pertaining to employment documentation, staff training documentation, employee evaluations, criminal background checks, and service delivery documentation.  Kare-More’s failure to provide services in compliance with the regulations constitutes a material breach of the SSBG contract pursuant to paragraphs 2, 19, and 28 of the contract and pursuant to 13 CSR 15-7.021(2) and (3).  Kare-More materially breached paragraph 28 of the contract by failing to keep and maintain adequate, legible, genuine and complete records to verify the delivery of services.   


Nevertheless, we note that there were no allegations or evidence that any of Kare-More’s actions resulted in harm to any client or in substandard service provided to any client.  Further, Kare-More corrected deficiencies and received a passing score in a subsequent monitoring visit, according to the testimony of Kathryn Johnson.  Therefore, we conclude that Kare-More’s SSBG contract should not be terminated.  Instead, we impose the following changes in the contract:  

(1) Kare-More shall be on probation for a period of one year beginning 30 days from the date this order is issued; and (2) during the one-year probationary period, Kare-More shall submit to DA such documentation of claims, training, and employment qualifications as DA requires, including documentation of up to 100% of its claims for DA’s review prior to payment.  In the event that Kare-More fails to provide documentation of claims, training, and employment qualifications or fails to comply with the applicable regulations, DA may terminate Kare-More’s contract upon 30 days’ written notice.

III.  Termination from Medicaid Program

Kare-More argues that according to the Department’s letter dated February 3, 2000, the Medicaid provider status was terminated solely on the grounds that its SSGB contract was 

terminated.  However, the Department’s letter cites the decision set forth in the letter dated February 2, 2000, from the Department, which enumerated violations of Medicaid regulations as well as SSBG regulations.  Therefore, Kare-More received actual notice that the following Medicaid regulations were violated:


Regulation 13 CSR 70-91.010 provides:

(1) Persons Eligible for Personal Care Services. . . . 

*   *   *

(B) Obtaining Personal Care Services.

1. . . . Upon the receipt of the personal care plan, the provider of care must initiate care within seven (7) days of receipt[.]

*   *   *

(3) Criteria for Providers of Personal Care Services.  


(A) The provider of personal care services must have a valid participation agreement with the state Medicaid agency.  The issuance of the participation agreement is dependent upon the Department of Social Services’ acceptance of an application for enrollment.  The provider must submit to the Department of Social Services, Division of Aging, the written proposal required to become a Title XX in-home services provider and be approved to provide Title XX in-home services.  Once approved to provide Title XX in-home services by the Division of Aging, the provider will be allowed to execute a Title XIX participation agreement with the Division of Medical Services.  Thereafter, a provider is not required to actually accept or deliver services to clients who are authorized for both programs or to clients who are authorized for Title XX services only. . . .  Providers must maintain their approval to participate as a Title XX provider, whether or not they actually serve Title XX eligible clients, in order to remain qualified to participate in the Title XIX (Medicaid) Personal Care Program.

*   *   *

(E) For newly appointed aides, the provider agency must, at a minimum, provide twenty (20) hours of orientation training.
1.  In calculating these hours, the following requirements shall apply:

A.  At least two (2) hours orientation to the provider agency and the agency’s protocols for handling emergencies, within thirty (30) days of employment;

B.  With eight (8) hours of classroom training being completed prior to client contact;  

C.  Twelve (12) hours of orientation may be waived with adequate documentation in the employee’s records that the aide received similar training during the current or preceding state fiscal year or has been employed as an aide at an in-home or home health agency at least half-time for six (6) months or more within the current or preceding state fiscal year;

D.  If an aide is a certified nurse assistant, licensed practical nurse, or registered nurse, the provider agency may waive all orientation training, except the two (2) hours’ provider agency orientation, with documentation placed in the aide’s personnel record.  The documentation shall include the employee’s license or certification number current at the time the training was waived.

2.  An additional ten (10) hours of in-service training annually are required after the first twelve (12) months of employment.  

*   *   *


4.  The provider agency shall have written documentation of all basic and in-service training provided which includes, at a minimum, a report of each employee’s training in that employee’s personnel record.  The report shall document the dates of all classroom or on-the-job training, trainer’s name, topics, number of hours and location, the date of the first client contact and shall include the aide’s signature.  If a provider waives any in-service training, the employee’s training record shall contain supportive data for the waiver. 

*   *   *

(H)  The supervisor’s responsibilities shall include, at a minimum, the following:

1.  Establish, implement, and enforce a policy governing communicable diseases that prohibits provider staff contact with clients when the employee has a communicable condition, including colds or flu. . . . 

2.  Monitor the provision of services by the personal care worker to assure that services are being delivered in accordance with the personal care plan.  This shall be primarily in the form of at a least monthly review and comparison of the worker’s records of provided services with the personal care plan. The monitoring reports shall be available for review by the Department of Social Services upon request.  Documentation must be kept on clients with a delivery rate of less than eighty percent (80%) of the authorized units of in-home service.  For each client with a delivery rate less than eighty percent (80%) of the number of units of in-home services authorized for the time period being reviewed, the number of units of service delivered and nondelivered code will be sent to the Division of Aging regional manager monthly.  Discrepancies for these clients concerning the frequency of delivered services and/or the in-home service tasks delivered, the corrective action taken, will be signed and dated by the supervisor and be readily available for monitoring or inspection; 

3.  Make an on-site visit at least annually to evaluate each personal care worker’s performance and the adequacy of the service plan, including review of the plan of care with the recipient.  The personal care worker must be present for this evaluation.  A written record of the evaluation shall be maintained in the personnel file of the personal care worker. . . . 

*   *   *

7. . . . (J) The RN’s responsibilities shall include, at a minimum, the following:

1.  Monthly on-site visits of the basic personal care recipients based on a ten percent (10%) sample of the provider agencies’ combined Title XIX and Title XX caseload size as of the beginning of each month.  This ten percent (10%) sample is to exclude personal care and advanced personal care recipients receiving authorized nurse visits and on-site supervisory visits . . . .

(Emphasis added.)

1.   Communicable Condition Policy 


Regulation 13 CSR 70-91.010(3)(H)1 states that a provider must “[e]stablish, implement, and enforce a policy governing communicable diseases” to prohibit employee contact with clients when the employee has a communicable condition, including a cold or the flu.  Of 17 employee files reviewed, 14 did not contain documentation of a policy that prohibits staff from contact with clients when the employee has a communicable condition.  Although Johnson testified that Kare-More had such a policy in place, there was no evidence that a written policy was implemented with employees of Kare-More.  We conclude that Kare-More violated 13 CSR 70-91.010(3)(H)1.

2.  Criminal Record Review


Section 660.317 states that providers must initiate criminal background checks on employees within two days of hire.  Of 15 workers files that were reviewed, 5 did not contain documentation of any criminal background check.  We conclude that Kare-More violated section 660.317.

3.  Annual Performance Exam


Regulation 13 CSR 70-91.010(3)(H)3 states that a provider must annually evaluate the performance of employees in writing.  Of 15 workers files that were reviewed, 4 contained no documentation of an annual performance examination, and of the remaining 11 files, 8 evaluations were not performed in a timely manner.  We conclude that Kare-More violated 13 CSR 70-91.010(3)(H)3.

4.  Training Requirements


Regulation 13 CSR 70-91.010(3)(E)1 requires 20 hours of orientation training for in-home service workers and 8 hours of classroom training before first client contact.  A provider 

must maintain written documentation of all training provided and any waivers. 13 CSR 70-91.010(3)(E)4.  Of 9 employee files that were reviewed, all 9 were missing documentation of all or part of the required training or necessary waivers.  We conclude that Kare-More violated 13 CSR 70-91.010(3)(E).

5. Reporting Delivery of Less than 80% of Services


Regulation 13 CSR 70-91.010(3)(H)2 states that a provider must notify the Department if it delivers less than 80% of the units of service authorized for the client.  Kare-More failed to report clients receiving less than 80% of authorized services.  We conclude that Kare-More violated 13 CSR 70-91.010(3)(H)2.

6.  Initiation of Services


Regulation 13 CSR 70-91.010(1)(B)1 states that a provider must initiate client services within 7 days of receipt of the personal care plan.  Of 10 new client files reviewed, 5 did not contain documentation of the initiation of services within 7 days.  We conclude that Kare-More violated 13 CSR 70-91.010(1)(B)1.

7.  RN Visits

Regulation 13 CSR 70-91.010(3)(J) states that the provider must conduct monthly on-site RN visits of the basic personal care recipients based on a ten percent (10%) sample of the provider agencies’ combined Title XIX and Title XX caseload size, excluding all clients who otherwise receive monthly RN visits.  Kare-More conducted no RN 10% sample visits for the month monitored.  We conclude that Kare-More violated 13 CSR 70-91.010(3)(J).

Sanction regarding Medicaid Program Status

Regulation 13 CSR 70-3.030(2)(A)13 provides that sanctions may be imposed against a provider for failing to meet standards required for participation by state or federal law.  Pursuant 

to 13 CSR 70-91.010(3)(A), one of the required standards for participation is approval as a Title XX provider (SSBG).  We have concluded that Kare-More’s SSBG contract under Title XX has been terminated.  Therefore, we may consider the appropriate sanction to be imposed against Kare-More’s Medicaid provider status.   

Regulation 13 CSR 70-3.030(2)(A)4 provides that sanctions may be imposed for failing to keep and make available adequate records that document the services and payments.  Kare-More has failed to keep and make available adequate records pertaining to services and payments.


To determine the appropriate sanction, we consider the criteria set forth in 13 CSR 70-2.030(4)(A):  the seriousness of the offenses; the extent of the violations, the history of prior violations; prior imposition of sanctions; prior provision of provider education; and actions taken by peer review groups, licensing boards, professional review organizations or utilization review committees.  We note that the violations are extensive, that Kare-More has a history of prior violations, and that there is harm to the program in the form of an overpayment.  


The sanctions for program violations are set forth at 13 CSR 70-3.030(3).  The sanctions include withholding future provider payments, termination or suspension from participation in the Medicaid program, suspension or withholding of payments, referral to peer review committees or utilization committees, recoupment of future payments, education sessions, prior authorization of services, one hundred percent review of claims prior to payment, or referral for investigation.     


Kare-More’s documentation does not indicate that it performed necessary criminal background checks of employees, implemented a policy concerning communicable conditions of employees, performed annual performance evaluations of employees, completed required 

training of employees, reported clients receiving less that 80% of services, or initiated services within 7 days of receiving the personal care plan.  The violations were extensive, and Kare-More has a history of prior violations.  


Nevertheless, there was no evidence that any of Kare-More’s actions resulted in harm to any client or in substandard service provided to any client.  There was no evidence of fraudulent intent on the part of any Kare-More employee or of any violation of pharmacy laws or rules. Further, Kare-More corrected deficiencies and received a passing score in a subsequent monitoring visit, according to the testimony of Kathryn Johnson.  Therefore, we conclude that Kare-More’s Medicaid provider status should not be terminated.  We conclude that Kare-More shall submit such documentation pertaining to claims, training, and employment qualifications as DMS requires, including up to 100% of its claims for review by DMS prior to payment as set forth in 13 CSR 70-3.030(3)(J) for a period of one year beginning 30 days from the date this order is issued.  If Kare-More fails to provide such documentation or fails to comply with the applicable regulations, DMS may terminate Kare-More’s Medicaid provider status upon 30 days’ written notice.    

Summary
Kare-More was overpaid $39,449.76 in the Missouri Medicaid program, and we order it to repay this amount to the Department.  The bond posted by Kare-More with this Commission in the amount of $1,000 may be applied to the overpayment.  

Kare-More’s Title XX Block Grant program contract is not terminated.  However, the following changes are imposed in the contract:  (1) Kare-More shall be on probation for a period of one year beginning 30 days from the date this order is issued; and (2) during the one-year probationary period, Kare-More shall submit to DA such documentation pertaining to claims, 

training, and employment qualifications as DA requires, including up to 100% of its claims for DA’s review prior to payment.  In the event that Kare-More fails to provide such documentation or fails to comply with the applicable regulations, DA may terminate Kare-More’s contract upon 30 days’ written notice.

Kare-More’s participation in the Title XIX Medicaid program is not terminated.  We conclude that Kare-More shall submit such documentation pertaining to claims, training, and employment qualifications as DMS requires, including up to 100% of its claims for review by DMS prior to payment, for a period of one year beginning 30 days from the date this order is issued.  If Kare-More fails to provide such documentation or fails to comply with the applicable regulations, DMS may terminate Kare-More’s Medicaid provider status upon 30 days’ written notice.


SO ORDERED on November 14, 2001.



________________________________



SHARON M. BUSCH



Commissioner

�Effective August 28, 2001, the Division of Aging was transferred to the Department of Health & Senior Services by a Type I transfer.  However, as neither party filed a motion to change the style of this case, it will remain as captioned above.


�This provision of paragraph 19 of the contract effective from July 1998 through June 2000 is identical to the provision found in paragraph 20 of the contract effective from September 1995 through June 1998.





�This provision found in paragraph 28 of the contract effective from July 1999 through June 2000 is the same as paragraph 26 of the contract effective from July 1998 through June 1999, and paragraph 27 effective from September 1995 through June 1998.





�Time sheets that did not have tasks or times, and workers’ files that did not have documentation of training.


�Time sheets lack client’s signature, or client’s mark witnessed by at least one person, or the signature of another responsible person in the home if the client is unable to sign.


�The coded criteria enumerated by DMS skipped the letters “I” and “K.” 


�Respondent’s Exhibit H40 shows one time sheet that was merely a photocopy of another.  Kare-More did not bill for more time than specified on the time sheet. 





�Respondent’s Exhibit H40 shows one time sheet that was merely a photocopy of another.  Kare-More did not bill for more time than specified on the time sheet.


�Although the time sheets allow space for recording only a single number for the “time in” or “time out,” the aide worked for two or more separate time periods each day.  The aide filled out separate time sheets that are marked “Morning,” “Mid-Day,” or “Evening” and hours are stated as either a.m. or p.m.  


�Tr. at 95-97.





�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.


�Kare-More argues that the Department erred by subtracting one unit (one hour) for travel time between clients.  The Department points out that the time is billed in one-hour increments.   Neither party provided evidence of the actual time spent by aides traveling between clients, and Kare-More has the burden of proof.  Therefore, Kare-More failed to carry its burden of proof to show the actual travel time or that it was improper for one unit of service to be subtracted for the travel time.  





�The letters “I” and “K” were not included in the coded criteria set forth in Respondent’s Exhibit 3. 
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